

Division of Local Government & School Accountability

Town of Peru Internal Controls Over Town Operations

Report of Examination

Period Covered:

January 1, 2005 — November 5, 2006 2007M-212



Thomas P. DiNapoli

Table of Contents

		Page
AUTHORITY	LETTER	3
EXECUTIVE S	SUMMARY	5
INTRODUCTI	ON	7
	Background	7
	Objective	7
	Scope and Methodology	8
	Comments of Local Officials and Corrective Action	8
FINANCIAL O	PERATIONS	9
	Accounting Records	9
	Annual Board Audit	12
	Recommendations	13
CLAIMS PRO	CESSING	15
	Segregation of Duties	15
	Claims Audit	16
	Payments on Warrants	17
	Recommendations	17
CODE ENFOR	CEMENT OFFICER'S CASH RECEIPTS	18
	Recommendation	19
APPENDIX A	Response From Local Officials	20
APPENDIX B	Audit Methodology and Standards	26
APPENDIX C	——————————————————————————————————————	27
APPENDIX D	Local Regional Office Listing	28

State of New York Office of the State Comptroller

Division of Local Government and School Accountability

November 2007

Dear Local Officials:

A top priority of the Office of the State Comptroller is to help local government officials manage government resources efficiently and effectively and, by so doing, provide accountability for tax dollars spent to support government operations. The Comptroller oversees the fiscal affairs of local governments statewide, as well as their compliance with relevant statutes and observance of good business practices. This fiscal oversight is accomplished through our audits, which identify opportunities for improving operations and Town Board governance. Audits also can identify strategies to reduce costs and to strengthen controls intended to safeguard local government assets.

Following is a report of our audit of the Town of Peru, entitled Internal Controls Over Town Operations. This audit was conducted pursuant to the State Comptroller's authority as set forth in Article V, Section 1 of the State Constitution, and Article 3 of the General Municipal Law.

This audit's results and recommendations are resources for local government officials in effectively managing operations and in meeting the expectations of their constituents. If you have questions about this report, please feel free to contact the local regional office for your county, as listed at the end of this report.

Respectfully submitted,

Office of the State Comptroller Division of Local Government and School Accountability



State of New York Office of the State Comptroller

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Town of Peru is governed by the Town Board (Board) which comprises five elected members. The Board is responsible for the general management and oversight of the Town's financial and operational affairs including setting policies, adopting and monitoring the budget, and approving claims to disburse Town funds. The Board adopted an annual budget of approximately \$3.2 million for the 2006 fiscal year.

The Town Supervisor (Supervisor) serves as both the chief financial officer and the chief executive officer for the Town, and is responsible for its financial operations including maintaining the accounting records for all receipts, disbursements, and account balances; reconciling the accounting records to the bank statements; filing the annual reports with the Office of the State Comptroller; and providing the Board with timely and accurate financial information. The Supervisor appoints a confidential secretary who primarily functions as a bookkeeper to maintain the accounting records.

The Town experienced significant turnover in key administrative positions during our audit period. Since January 2006¹ the Town successively employed four bookkeepers, and two account clerks resigned during the same period.

Scope and Objective

The objective of our audit was to examine financial records and reports of the Town of Peru for the period January 1, 2005 to November 5, 2006. Our audit addressed the following questions:

- Had the Supervisor developed and implemented management procedures that allow the Board to adequately monitor the Town's financial activity?
- Did the Board fulfill its oversight responsibilities relating to internal controls over claims processing?
- Were there adequate internal controls over the Code Enforcement Officer's cash receipts?

Audit Results

The Supervisor did not maintain adequate management procedures for the Town's financial operations and employed bookkeepers having little, if any, experience in governmental accounting. The

¹ Until completion of this audit in August 2007

Supervisor and administrative staff did not maintain current and accurate records and did not provide any monthly financial reports to the Board during 2006. Bank reconciliations were not completed and the Town's general ledger cash accounts were overstated by \$441,643 as of December 31, 2006. Both the current and prior Supervisors failed to maintain adequate documentation for moneys received, making it unclear whether all cash receipts were accurately identified by source and properly recorded. Acceptable accounting records were not maintained for the Town's capital projects and capital reserve transactions. Overall, the Board did not fulfill its financial oversight duties by performing an annual audit of the books and records of all officers and employees who received or disbursed cash. Because of the lack of adequate controls, accountability, and financial oversight by Town officials, the Town Board is at risk of making misinformed financial decisions that could result in serious fiscal problems and the waste of taxpayer moneys.

The Town's internal controls over the claims processing system were also inadequate. Claims processing duties were poorly segregated, the Board did not properly audit claims, and some warrants of audited claims were missing or inaccurate. The Town had insufficient documentation available for our review to support payment of legal fees totaling \$37,704. As a result, there is an increased risk that errors or irregularities could occur and not be detected and corrected in a timely manner.

Finally, the Board had not established written policies and procedures for the collection, recording, reporting, and remittance of fees for planning, zoning, and building permits. The Code Enforcement Officer (CEO) employed during 2005 did not maintain complete and accurate records, and the Town had no method of verifying the receipts he collected against the reports he submitted to the Town Clerk (Clerk). Without written policies and procedures for the management of code enforcement moneys, the Town is at risk of revenues being lost or stolen without detection.

Comments of Local Officials

The results of our audit and recommendations have been discussed with Town officials and their comments, which appear in Appendix A, have been considered in preparing this report. Town officials generally agreed with our recommendations and have initiated, or indicated they planned to initiate, corrective action.

Introduction

Background

The Town of Peru (Town) is located in Clinton County in northern New York and has approximately 6,900 residents. The Town is governed by the Town Board (Board) which comprises five elected members. The Board is responsible for the general management and oversight of the Town's financial and operational affairs including setting policies, adopting and monitoring the budget, and auditing the books and records of Town employees and officials. The Board adopted an annual budget of approximately \$3.2 million for the 2006 fiscal year.

The Town Supervisor (Supervisor) serves as both the chief financial officer and chief executive officer for the Town and is responsible for its financial operations, including maintaining accounting records for all receipts, disbursements, and account balances; reconciling the accounting records to the bank statements; filing the annual reports with the Office of the State Comptroller; and providing the Board with timely and accurate financial information. The Supervisor appoints a confidential secretary whose primary duties are to maintain the accounting records.

The Town experienced significant turnover in key administrative positions during our audit period. Since January 2006² the Town successively employed four bookkeepers, and two account clerks resigned during the same period.

During August 2006 the Board requested an audit of the Town's financial records and expressed concern about the completeness and accuracy of the accounting records. Specifically, Board members were concerned that staff appointed by the Supervisor to maintain the Town's accounting records lacked necessary experience in governmental accounting. Following an on-site risk assessment of the Town and based on continued concerns expressed by Town officials, we conducted an audit.

The objective of our audit was to examine financial records and reports of the Town of Peru. Our audit addressed the following questions:

 Had the Supervisor developed and implemented management procedures that allow the Board to adequately monitor the Town's financial activity?

DIVISION OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND SCHOOL ACCOUNTABILITY

Objective

² Until completion of this audit in August 2007

- Did the Board fulfill its oversight responsibilities relating to internal controls over claims processing?
- Were there adequate internal controls over the Code Enforcement Officer's cash receipts?

Scope and Methodology

We examined financial records and reports of the Town of Peru for the period January 1, 2005 to November 5, 2006.

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards (GAGAS). More information on such standards and the methodology used in performing this audit are included in Appendix B of this report.

Comments of Local Officials and Corrective Action

The results of our audit and recommendations have been discussed with Town officials and their comments, which appear in Appendix A, have been considered in preparing this report. Town officials generally agreed with our recommendations and have initiated, or indicated they planned to initiate, corrective action.

The Town Board has the responsibility to initiate corrective action. Pursuant to Section 35 of the General Municipal Law, the Town Board should prepare a plan of action that addresses the recommendations in this report and forward the plan to our office within 90 days. For guidance in preparing your plan of action, you may refer to applicable sections in the publication issued by the Office of the State Comptroller entitled *Local Government Management Guide*. We encourage the Town Board to make this plan available for public review in the Town Clerk's office.

Financial Operations

Effective procedures for a town's management of its financial operations enable local government officials to monitor financial activity and obtain information for making management decisions, preparing realistic budgets, filing required reports, and maintaining a healthy and stable financial position for the local government they serve. In the Town of Peru, the Supervisor was primarily responsible for establishing, monitoring, and managing such procedures. However, the Town's financial operations were deficient because the Supervisor failed to maintain complete and accurate financial records. The situation was further aggravated by the employment of bookkeepers who lacked sufficient knowledge to maintain accounting records, and the Supervisor's failure to oversee their performance. The lack of complete and accurate accounting records significantly exposes Town assets to the risk of fraud and abuse without detection by Town officials.

Accounting Records

Financial information must be complete, accurate, and current for managing Town operations. As chief financial officer, the Supervisor was responsible for ensuring that the basic accounting functions were performed and that adequate accounting records — journals, ledgers, and other documents that provide a record of all financial transactions — were available to produce periodic reports for the Board's use in monitoring the Town's financial operations. The Supervisor was ultimately responsible for ensuring that reliable records and reports were maintained, whether by himself or by an appointed bookkeeper.

Two months into his term, the Supervisor appointed a confidential secretary (bookkeeper) who lacked experience in governmental accounting and resigned after two months of employment. A second bookkeeper appointed during the time of our examination also resigned after two months, acknowledging that she lacked any relevant experience in maintaining accounting records. As a result of the turnover and lack of effective oversight, the Town's accounting records were unreliable due to incompleteness and inaccuracies. Without a reliable basis for Town officials to monitor financial activity and make informed financial decisions, the Town is at risk of inefficient operations that could create serious fiscal problems and jeopardize its financial health.

<u>Bank Reconciliations</u> — Monthly reconciliations between bank statements and accounting records should be performed to verify

that the Town's cash balances in the accounting records agree with corresponding bank statements. This helps ensure that all cash is properly accounted for. The Supervisor and his staff failed to perform monthly reconciliations for the entire year of 2006. We reviewed the Town's general ledger cash balances as of December 31, 2006, comparing them to the corresponding bank statements for the Town's 23 bank accounts at the same date. General ledger cash balances totaled \$1,295,329, while the Town had only \$853,686 in the bank,³ leaving the Town's total reported cash balance overstated by \$441,643 (52 percent). This difference was caused by the failure to maintain complete and accurate records of cash disbursements, and errors in the use of the accounting system such as inappropriate deletion of cash disbursement entries. A 52 percent cash overstatement makes it difficult if not impossible for the governing board to monitor the town's financial health or make informed financial decisions.

<u>Cash Receipts</u> — Cash receipts collected by the Town should be posted to the accounting records by the bookkeeper each month. There should be supporting documentation of each receipt's revenue source. General Municipal Law requires the Supervisor to issue duplicate cash receipt forms to confirm moneys received if there is no other evidence satisfactory for audit. The Supervisor must also maintain a separate subsidiary account for each revenue category.

Both the current and prior Supervisors failed to maintain sufficient documentation for moneys received during the period January 1, 2005 through November 5, 2006, and neither issued duplicate cash receipts during that time. Without proper cash receipt records, the bookkeepers could not readily identify the source of all moneys deposited into the Town bank accounts or accurately record them in the accounting records. Because of the lack of documentation, we were unable to determine with certainty whether all cash receipts during our audit period had been properly deposited to Town bank accounts or the extent to which inaccurate records may have contributed to the Town's overstatement of its cash balance. The inadequacy of the procedures in place creates an increased risk of revenues being lost or stolen without being detected or corrected in a timely manner.

<u>Cash Disbursements</u> — Cash disbursements should be properly initiated by Town employees or officials, supported by detailed information, and approved by the Board. The Supervisor is responsible for ensuring that all such disbursements of Town funds are recorded accurately and expeditiously in the accounting records.

³ The bank balance excludes four bank accounts totaling \$54,788 for capital projects (active and inactive) that were also not accounted for in the Town's records.

In cash disbursement records for the period January 2006 through August 2006, gaps in check sequences indicated that 52 checks were missing. The bookkeepers had properly voided and retained 30 of these checks on file. Of the remaining 22 checks, documentation indicated that nine had been destroyed, seven had not cleared the bank and could not be accounted for, and six — totaling about \$25,340 — were deleted from the accounting records after they cleared the bank. Because the bookkeepers had not been adequately trained on the Town's automated accounting system, they did not know how to correct accounting errors by posting journal entries and instead deleted checks from the software. The insufficient procedures for recording cash disbursements, combined with staff's lack of training in the Town's accounting software, places the Town's assets at risk of misuse and limits the ability of the Board to provide adequate oversight.

<u>Capital Projects and Reserves</u> — A capital project is used to account for the acquisition or construction of capital facilities and purchases of equipment. Separate accounting records are required for each capital project so the Town can capture construction or acquisition costs for the capital asset records and ensure that debt proceeds are used for their intended purpose.

The Supervisor could not provide us with accounting records for capital projects underway during 2005 and did not maintain capital project accounting records during 2006. We also noted that the Board had not formally budgeted for a highway garage construction project, begun in 2005, or passed the required resolutions authorizing the expenditure of \$250,000 in capital reserve funds to build the garage. Construction costs were accounted for in the general fund instead of separately. In addition, in November 2005 the Town purchased a water/sewer department truck using \$18,000 from a capital reserve fund. We found no indication that the Board had passed the required resolution authorizing expenditures of capital reserve fund moneys to purchase the truck.

The Town had four other capital projects in process — Peru sewer lines, Valcour sewer grinder pumps, water district improvements, and new water lines — funded by debt proceeds that had been properly allocated for those projects. However, the Town used portions of these debt proceeds to pay for items other than the intended project purposes, as follows:

• In October 2005, truck repairs totaling \$2,842 were paid from the water district improvement project.

- In April 2006, the Town used Peru sewer line project moneys to purchase a new \$24,716 water/sewer truck to replace a vehicle destroyed in an accident.⁴
- In April 2006, the Town paid \$3,088 for engineering work on the water line project with funds from the separate water district improvement project.
- In November 2006, the Town used \$2,280 in proceeds from a bond anticipation note issued for the Valcour sewer grinder pumps project to pay an interest payment due on an unrelated sewer bond.

The lack of proper capital project and reserve fund accounting records resulted in the inappropriate use of debt proceeds and the unauthorized use of reserve moneys. Because of the absence of reliable records, the Town cannot capture actual capital construction costs. As a result, the Town incurs the risk of projects being overspent without Board knowledge, and of misappropriating funds without detection by local officials.

Monthly Reports — The Supervisor is required to submit a detailed statement of all moneys received and disbursed during the month to the Board so that all Board members have sufficient information to make informed financial decisions. These reports should include reconciled cash balances for each fund and detailed year-to-date budget and actual comparisons. Such reports can be a valuable tool for the Board's monitoring of the Town's financial condition and budgetary status throughout the year, and in preparing the ensuing year's budget.

The Supervisor had not provided any detailed financial information to the Board during 2006 until November, largely because of the failure to maintain adequate accounting records. Because of the lack of timely financial reports, the Board could not monitor financial operations, make informed decisions throughout the year, or adopt a realistic 2007 budget. As a result, the Town is at risk of overspending its budget and incurring serious fiscal problems. Further, the Board's lack of oversight increases the risk that errors, irregularities, or fraud could occur and not be detected and corrected in a timely manner.

Annual Board Audit

A town's successful operation depends largely on its governing board, which directs the town's activities. Board members, individually and collectively, are the Town's fiscal stewards responsible both for

⁴ The net cost to the capital project totaled \$11,466 after insurance proceeds were subsequently credited to the sewer line project account.

setting the course of financial activities and for seeing that it is kept. Working with other Town officials and department heads, the Board can help ensure that critical oversight is provided and that individual responsibilities are established and met. Internal controls help safeguard the Town's assets and ensure the prudent and economical use of its moneys and, therefore, should include the auditing of Town officials who receive and disburse cash.

Town Law requires that on or before the 20th day of January, each Town officer and employee who received or disbursed any moneys in the previous year should account with the Board for such moneys. The purposes of this Board audit are to provide assurance that public moneys are handled properly (i.e., deposited in a timely manner, accurately recorded, and accounted for), to identify conditions that need improvement, and to provide oversight of the Town's financial operations. An annual audit allows the Board to assess financial operations and to review compliance with Board policies such as those concerning investment and procurement.

There was no indication that the Board had examined the books and records of the Supervisor, the Clerk, the Code Enforcement Officer, or any other Town officials or employees who received or disbursed moneys during 2005. Without such audit by the Board, the Town is at risk of mishandling public moneys and failing to detect and correct errors, irregularities, or fraudulent activity in a timely manner.

Recommendations

- The Supervisor should ensure that the Town's accounting records are accurate and maintained in a timely manner, with detailed supporting documentation for cash receipts and disbursements, and post all receipts and disbursements to the records. Each month the bookkeeper should reconcile bank statements to cash balances in the accounting records.
- 2. Local officials should establish minimum qualifications for individuals appointed as bookkeeper and ensure that they receive sufficient training in the accounting software.
- 3. The Board should not use debt proceeds issued to finance specific capital projects for purposes other than the stated use.
- 4. Town officials should expend capital reserve funds only upon the Board's authorization and in accordance with all other statutory requirements.
- 5. The Supervisor should provide the Board with a detailed monthly report of all moneys he received and disbursed during the month,

- including reconciled cash balances for each fund and year-to-date budget and actual comparisons.
- 6. The Board should annually examine the books and records of all Town officials and employees who receive or disburse cash.

Claims Processing

Policies and procedures for claims processing are a main component of the Town's internal controls. The Board must ensure that all claims are legitimate charges against the Town before they are paid. Town Law requires the Board to audit all claims against the Town. The Clerk should then prepare and sign a warrant of the audited and approved claims, which are paid by the Supervisor. To properly audit each claim, the Board should conduct a thorough review to determine that proposed payments are proper and valid charges against the Town, and that they were incurred by authorized officials.

The Town's internal controls over the claims processing system were inadequate, particularly in regard to the segregation of duties, with one person essentially controlling the entire process. The bookkeeper prepared both the warrants and the claims (including claims payable to herself) and the Clerk did not perform duties involving the initial processing of claims as required by Town Law in order to provide appropriate segregation of duties. The Board did not properly audit claims, and warrants of audited claims were missing or inaccurate. Additionally, the Town had insufficient documentation to support the payment of certain claims for legal fees.

Segregation of Duties

Effective segregation of duties helps to ensure that no one individual controls all or most aspects of a transaction. The proper division of responsibility requires independent oversight of the work performed by employees in financial operations. Accordingly, Town Law requires towns to process claims as follows:

- The Clerk numbers each claim consecutively, beginning with 1, each year.
- The Board audits all Town claims and approves them for payment by resolution.
- The Clerk prepares and signs (certifies) a warrant of the audited and approved claims directing the Supervisor to pay them.
- The Clerk files all audited claims in numerical order in her office.

However, both the claims and the warrant were prepared by the bookkeeper instead of the Clerk. The bookkeeper also prepared the checks, filed the claims in her office, posted the accounting records, and reconciled the bank accounts. As a result, the incompatible duties of disbursement, accounting, and check custody were not properly segregated. Additionally, the prior year's (2005) claims were maintained in an unlocked file cabinet in an unsecured stairwell accessible to the general public and outside the view of Town officials. Because of the insufficient segregation of duties and the Clerk's failure to perform her statutory responsibilities, combined with inadequate safeguards of claims records, there is an increased risk that errors or irregularities could occur and not be detected and corrected in a timely manner.

Claims Audit

As an integral part of the Town's internal controls, the claims audit process includes procedures to ensure that the Town pays only those vendor claims that are legal and proper. Claim vouchers should be properly itemized and contain sufficient documentation for the Board to determine the nature of the claim, to verify the calculation of all associated costs, and to determine whether the claim complies with statutory requirements and Town policies. In addition, the Board should be able to determine that the Town actually received the goods or services described in the claims, from detailed receipts with written statements from Town officials to that effect. Lastly, the Board should confirm that each claim is in its proper form and does not include any charges already paid.

We reviewed 50 claims totaling \$96,188 (25 from January through December 2005 and 25 from January to November 5, 2006) and found that nine of these claims, totaling \$3,470, contained errors and irregularities indicating that the Board had not properly audited them. Each of these claims had one or more instances of information that did not match the warrant, i.e., names, payment amounts, appropriation codes, and/or check numbers. In one instance, a \$1,665.33 voucher for maintenance services was paid on May 25, 2006 even though the warrant indicated that the check was voided.

Ten claims lacked detailed invoices documenting items purchased, preventing the Board from properly auditing the claims to determine if they were for valid Town expenditures. Nineteen claims totaling \$28,726lacked any signature indicating authorization by an appropriate Town official. We also examined 16 invoices for legal fees in 2006 totaling \$94,795; of those, there was insufficient documentation available for our review to support payments of \$37,704. In the absence of critical information such as supporting invoices and proof of department head approval, Board members could not perform an adequate audit of claims. By approving these vouchers without adequate documentation, the Board failed to complete a thorough audit which increased the risk of payment for goods or services that are not for appropriate Town purposes.

Payments on Warrants

The automated accounting system used by the Town generated both the warrant and the related checks based on information the bookkeeper entered from the individual claims after their approval by the Board. The bookkeeper would then prepare the warrant and print the corresponding checks for the Supervisor to sign. Accordingly, an appropriate internal control is for the Supervisor to ensure that the printed checks agreed with the claims.

There was no independent review of the warrants, by the Supervisor or other designated individual, to verify that the bookkeeper had properly entered the claim information before the Supervisor signed the checks. We traced 20 check payments totaling \$48,966 to audited warrants to ensure that the payee and amount on the checks matched the warrant, and that the claims were properly audited and approved by the Board. The warrants for five claims totaling \$14,777 were missing from the Town records. Because Town officials were unable to produce the warrants during our examination and the Board minutes were insufficient, we could not determine whether the claims had been approved and audited. Further, the payment amount on four checks totaling \$2,217 did not agree with the amounts listed on the warrants, and three warrants contained claims totaling \$7,738 that had not been audited and approved by the Board. The failure to perform an independent review of the warrants as a control procedure significantly increases the risk that errors and irregularities could occur and not be detected and corrected in a timely manner.

Recommendations

- 7. The Board should ensure an adequate separation of duties in the processing of claims. Such separation of duties should ensure that the Town Clerk performs all duties that are the statutory responsibility of her position.
- 8. The Board should ensure that all claims are properly supported by detailed invoices, have been approved by the department head, and agree to the warrant prior to approving them for payment.
- 9. Prior to making payment, the Supervisor should compare checks to the approved warrant and audited claims to verify that all payments have been Board-approved and that the amounts are accurate.

Code Enforcement Officer's Cash Receipts

Town officials act as public servants and are responsible for carrying out the functions of their office efficiently and effectively. Effective internal controls should include policies, practices, and procedures to provide reasonable assurance to taxpayers that the Town is properly accounting for its resources. Regular oversight and monitoring of such internal controls by management help to ensure they are operating effectively and as intended.

The Code Enforcement Officer (CEO) approves planning, zoning, and building permits and collects related fees. The CEO's responsibilities include receiving, recording, remitting, and reporting all collections accurately and in a timely manner. The CEO turns these moneys over to the Town Clerk and issues a printed receipt which, retained in duplicate, provides additional supporting documentation of the transaction. The CEO also provides a monthly report of these receipts to the Clerk. The Clerk deposits the moneys in the Town Clerk account, from which they are remitted to the Supervisor and included in the Clerk's monthly report to the Supervisor. (The recorded collections averaged about \$3,200 per month.) The Supervisor then deposits the cash receipts to the general fund as Town revenue.

The Board had not established written policies and procedures for the collection, recording, reporting, and remittance of planning, zoning, and building permit fees. We compared the cash receipts collected during three months with the CEO's remittances to the Clerk⁵ and found records that were inaccurate and incomplete. For example, of 48 cash receipts for approximately \$9,000, 33 totaling \$6,600 were not reflected in the CEO's monthly reports to the Clerk. Therefore, we expanded our testing to the entire 2005 calendar year and found that the CEO had collected water and sewer hookup fees and remitted them directly to the Supervisor instead of to the Clerk, which accounted for the discrepancy between the CEO's cash receipts and his reports to the Clerk. The lack of written policies and procedures for the management of cash receipts creates a weakness in the Code Enforcement Office's internal controls, and limits the Board's ability to provide effective oversight. In addition, both CEOs who served during our audit period retained the moneys they collected until month-end before remitting them to the Clerk, and cash receipts remitted to the Clerk were not reported in a timely manner. For example, a printed receipt for \$3,700

⁵ The Town employed two Code Enforcement Officers during our audit period: one from January to September 2005, and the second from October 2005 to November 2006. Our initial testing was for the three months of May and September 2005 and September 2006.

was issued on May 12, 2005 and the moneys deposited to a Town account on June 7, but the transaction was not reported to the Clerk until August. The practice of holding cash receipts until month-end places the Town's assets at risk of being lost or stolen, and the failure to report remittances in a timely manner places the Town at risk of errors, irregularities, or fraud occurring and not being detected by local officials.

Recommendation

10. Local officials should establish written policies and procedures for the collection, recording, reporting, and remittance of moneys received by the Code Enforcement Office. Such policies and procedures should define the responsibilities of the Code Enforcement Officer, the Town Supervisor, and the Town Clerk.

APPENDIX A

RESPONSE FROM LOCAL OFFICIALS

The local officials' response to this audit can be found on the following pages.

Town of Peru

3036 Main Street P.O. Box 596 Peru, New York 12972-0596

Phone: (518) 643-2745

Fax: (518) 643-0078 www.perutown.com

Kathleen Flynn Town Clerk

Thomas J. Powers Councilmember

Keith R. Matott Councilmember

November 8, 2007

Office of the State Comptroller One Broad Street Plaza Glens Falls, New York 12801

Re: Examination #2007M-212

Dear

Donald Covel

Supervisor

Peter G. Glushko

Councilmember

Cortland Forrence

Councilmember

The Town of Peru Town Council would like to take this opportunity to thank you and your associates from the Office of the State Comptroller for conducting the Internal Control Examination and Exit Discussion with Town Board members covering the period of January 1, 2005 through November 5, 2006

The Town considers the findings and recommendations of the audit tools to guide town officials to effectively manage operations and meet expectations of the community. This letter shall be considered the official response to the audit and a foundation for the Corrective Action Plan.

FINANCIAL OPERATIONS:

A. Accounting Records:

1. Bank Reconciliations:

Response:

The Town Supervisor or appropriate staff under the guidance of the Supervisor will immediately start reconciling bank statements against accounting records monthly. Presently, the town accounting vendor is reconciling the bank statements.

2. Cash Receipts:

Response:

The Town Supervisor or appropriate staff under the guidance of the Supervisor will immediately begin issuing duplicate cash receipts. The Supervisor will develop and implement written procedure, approved by the Town Board, to follow when moneys are received and deposited into Town bank accounts by December 15, 2007.

3. Cash Disbursements:

Response:

The Town Supervisor or appropriate staff under the guidance of the Supervisor will develop and implement written procedures, approved by the Town Board, to properly disburse funds by December 15, 2007.

4. Capital Projects:

Response:

In previous years the Town kept accounting records for all capital projects. The Town Supervisor or appropriate staff under the guidance of the Supervisor will develop written procedures, approved by the Town Board, to properly account for capital projects by January 1, 2008.

5. Monthly Reports:

Response:

The Town Supervisor will immediately begin providing the necessary detailed financial information to the Town Board to enable the Board to make informed financial decisions.

B. Annual Board Audit:

Response:

The Town Board will develop and implement a written procedure to complete internal audits of <u>every</u> Town officer and employee who received or disbursed moneys in the previous year by December 15, 2007.

C. Financial Operations Recommendations:

The Supervisor should ensure that the Town's accounting records are accurate
and maintained in a timely manner, with detailed supporting documentation for
cash receipts and disbursements, and post all receipts and disbursements to the
records. Each month the bookkeeper should reconcile bank statements to cash
balances in the accounting records.

Response:

The Town Supervisor or appropriate staff under the guidance of the Supervisor will immediately start reconciling bank statements against accounting records monthly. Presently, the town accounting vendor is reconciling the bank statements.

Local officials should establish minimum qualifications for individuals appointed as bookkeeper and ensure that they receive sufficient training in the accounting software. Response:

The Town Board will establish minimum qualifications for individuals appointed as bookkeeper, develop, and implement a written training program for the accounting software by January 30, 2008.

3. The Board should not use debt proceeds issued to finance specific capital projects for purposes other than the stated use.

Response: Im

Immediately, only use debt proceeds for their stated use.

4. Town Officials should expend capital reserve funds only upon the Board's authorization and in accordance with all other statutory requirements.

Response:

In previous years the Town Board authorized the expenditure of capital reserve funds. The Board will immediately reacquaint themselves with and follow the proper statutory requirements.

5. The Supervisor should provide the Board with a detailed monthly report of all moneys he received and disbursed during the month, including reconciled cash balances for each fund and year-to-date budget and actual comparisons.

Response:

The Town Supervisor will immediately begin providing the necessary detailed financial information to the Town Board to enable the Board to make informed financial decisions.

6. The Board should annually examine the books and records of all Town officials and employees who receive or disburse cash.

Response:

The Town Board will develop and implement a written procedure to complete internal audits of <u>every</u> Town officer and employee who received or disbursed moneys in the previous year by December 15, 2007.

CLAIMS PROCESSING:

A. Segregation of Duties:

Response:

The Town Board and Town Clerk will develop a procedure to adequately separate the duties in processing of claims and additionally ensure the Town Clerk performs all the duties that are the statutory responsibility of the position by December 15, 2007.

B. Claims Audit:

Response:

The Town Board is currently ensuring all claims are properly supported by detailed invoices, have been approved by the department head, and agree to the warrant prior to approving them for payment.

C. Payments on Warrants:

Response:

The Town Supervisor will immediately begin to compare checks to the approved warrant and audited claims to verify that all payments have been Board approved and that the amounts are accurate. Currently, a Town Board member is completing this task.

D. Claims Processing Recommendations:

7. The Board should ensure an adequate separation of duties in the processing of claims. Such separation of duties should ensure that the Town Clerk performs all duties that are the statutory responsibility of her position.

Response:

The Town Board and Town Clerk will develop a procedure to adequately separate the duties in processing of claims and additionally ensure the Town Clerk performs all the duties that are the statutory responsibility of the position by January 15, 2008.

8. The Board should ensure that all claims are properly supported by detailed invoices, have been approved by the department head, and agree to the warrant prior to approving them for payment.

Response:

The Town Board is currently ensuring all claims are properly supported by detailed invoices, have been approved by the department head, and agree to the warrant prior to approving them for payment.

Prior to making payment, the Supervisor should compare checks to the approved warrant and audited claims to verify that all the payments have been Boardapproved and that the amounts are accurate.

Response:

The Town Supervisor will immediately begin to compare checks to the approved warrant and audited claims to verify that all payments have been Board approved and that the amounts are accurate. Currently, a Town Board member is completing this task.

CODE ENFORCEMENT OFFICER'S CASH RECEIPTS:

A. Policy:

Response:

The Code Enforcement Officer Town Board will develop and implement written procedures for the collection, recording, and remittance of monies received by the Code Enforcement Office by December 15, 2007.

B. Code Enforcement Officer's Cash Recommendations:

10. Local officials should establish written policies and procedures for the collection, recording, reporting, and remittance of monies received by the Code Enforcement Office. Such policies and procedures should define the responsibilities of the Code Enforcement Officer, the Town Supervisor, and the Town Clerk.

Response:

The Town Board will develop and implement written procedures for the collection, recording, and remittance of monies received by the Code Enforcement Office by December 15, 2007. Such procedures will include but are not limited to the following that are currently implemented:

- Fees to be determined at time of submission of application by Codes/Zoning Official per Fee Schedule.
- Collection of fees by Planning/Zoning secretary with hand receipt completed and given to applicant.
- Submission of collected fees monthly to Town Clerk.
- Monthly reconciliation of collected fees with Cash Receipt Report generated by IPS program.
- Collected fees to be in a locked cabinet outside of normal office hours.

Regards,

Donald Covel Jr.

Supervisor

Peter Glushko

Councilor

Cortland Forrence

Councilor

Thomas Powers Councilor

Keith R. Matott

Councilor

KRM/bms

APPENDIX B

AUDIT METHODOLOGY AND STANDARDS

Our overall goal was to access the adequacy of the internal controls put in place by officials to safeguard Town assets and monitor financial activities. To accomplish this, we performed an initial assessment of the internal controls so that we could design our audit to focus on those areas most at risk.

During the initial assessment, we interviewed Town officials, performed limited tests of transactions, and reviewed pertinent documents such as Town policies and procedures manuals, Board minutes, and financial records and reports. In addition, we obtained information directly from the computerized financial database and then analyzed it using computer-assisted techniques. After reviewing the information gathered during our initial assessment, we determined where weaknesses existed, and evaluated those weaknesses for the risk of potential fraud, theft and/or professional misconduct. We then decided upon the reported objectives and scope by selecting for audit those areas most at risk. We selected for further testing the Supervisor's financial operations, claims processing, and the Code Enforcement Officer's cash receipts.

To accomplish the objectives of the audit, our procedures included the following:

- We interviewed Town officials responsible for financial oversight, maintaining accounting records, and processing claims to gain an understanding of the Town's policies and procedures.
- We reviewed the Supervisor's management of financial operations and, on a test basis, reviewed the accounting records including bank reconciliations, cash receipts, cash disbursements, and capital projects. We assessed the financial information provided to the Town Board and the Board's procedures to provide oversight of Town finances.
- We reviewed the Town's procedures for processing claims. On a test basis, we reviewed claims to determine if they were properly approved prior to payment, contained adequate documentation supporting the payment, and agreed with information listed on the warrants. We also traced cancelled checks to the approved warrants to ensure the payment information agreed.
- We interviewed Town officials to determine the policies and procedures for collecting fees related to code enforcement.
- We tested cash receipts collected by the Code Enforcement Office for the 2005 calendar year and during September 2006 to determine if confirmation receipts were issued and the collections properly accounted for and accurately reported to the Clerk.

We conducted this performance audit in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards (GAGAS). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. We believe that the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives.

APPENDIX C

HOW TO OBTAIN ADDITIONAL COPIES OF THE REPORT

To obtain copies of this report, write or visit our web page:

Office of the State Comptroller Public Information Office 110 State Street, 15th Floor Albany, New York 12236 (518) 474-4015 http://www.osc.state.ny.us/localgov/

APPENDIX D

OFFICE OF THE STATE COMPTROLLER DIVISION OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND SCHOOL ACCOUNTABILITY

Steven J. Hancox, Deputy Comptroller John C. Traylor, Assistant Comptroller

LOCAL REGIONAL OFFICE LISTING

BUFFALO REGIONAL OFFICE

Robert Meller, Chief Examiner Office of the State Comptroller 295 Main Street, Room 1050 Buffalo, New York 14203-2510 (716) 847-3647 Fax (716) 847-3643 Email: Muni-Buffalo@osc.state.ny.us

Serving: Allegany, Cattaraugus, Chautauqua, Erie, Genesee, Niagara, Orleans, Wyoming counties

ROCHESTER REGIONAL OFFICE

Edward V. Grant, Jr., Chief Examiner Office of the State Comptrller The Powers Building 16 West Main Street – Suite 522 Rochester, New York 14614-1608 (585) 454-2460 Fax (585) 454-3545 Email: Muni-Rochester@osc.state.ny.us

Serving: Cayuga, Chemung, Livingston, Monroe, Ontario, Schuyler, Seneca, Steuben, Wayne, Yates counties

SYRACUSE REGIONAL OFFICE

Eugene A. Camp, Chief Examiner Office of the State Comptroller State Office Building, Room 409 333 E. Washington Street Syracuse, New York 13202-1428 (315) 428-4192 Fax (315) 426-2119 Email: Muni-Syracuse@osc.state.ny.us

Serving: Herkimer, Jefferson, Lewis, Madison, Oneida, Onondaga, Oswego, St. Lawrence counties

BINGHAMTON REGIONAL OFFICE

Patrick Carbone, Chief Examiner
Office of the State Comptroller
State Office Building, Room 1702
44 Hawley Street
Binghamton, New York 13901-4417
(607) 721-8306 Fax (607) 721-8313
Email: Muni-Binghamton@osc.state.ny.us

Serving: Broome, Chenango, Cortland, Delaware, Otsego, Schoharie, Sullivan, Tioga, Tompkins counties

GLENS FALLS REGIONAL OFFICE

Karl Smoczynski, Chief Examiner Office of the State Comptroller One Broad Street Plaza Glens Falls, New York 12801-4396 (518) 793-0057 Fax (518) 793-5797 Email: Muni-GlensFalls@osc.state.ny.us

Serving: Clinton, Essex, Franklin, Fulton, Hamilton, Montgomery, Rensselaer, Saratoga, Warren, Washington counties

ALBANY REGIONAL OFFICE

Kenneth Madej, Chief Examiner Office of the State Comptroller 22 Computer Drive West Albany, New York 12205-1695 (518) 438-0093 Fax (518) 438-0367 Email: Muni-Albany@osc.state.ny.us

Serving: Albany, Columbia, Dutchess, Greene, Schenectady, Ulster counties

HAUPPAUGE REGIONAL OFFICE

Richard J. Rennard, Chief Examiner
Office of the State Comptroller
NYS Office Building, Room 3A10
Veterans Memorial Highway
Hauppauge, New York 11788-5533
(631) 952-6534 Fax (631) 952-6530
Email: Muni-Hauppauge@osc.state.ny.us

Serving: Nassau, Suffolk counties

NEWBURGH REGIONAL OFFICE

Christopher Ellis, Chief Examiner Office of the State Comptroller 33 Airport Center Drive, Suite 103 New Windsor, NY 12553-4725 (845) 567-0858 Fax (845) 567-0080 Email: Muni-Newburgh@osc.state.ny.us

Serving: Orange, Putnam, Rockland, Westchester counties